
MINUTES OF THE HARDYSTON TOWNSHIP PLANNING BOARD ME ETING HELD  
JUNE 26, 2008 
 
CALL THE MEETING TO ORDER:  Chairman Miller called the meeting to order at 7:30 p.m. and 
read the following Statement of Compliance. 
 
STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE : Pursuant to the Open Public Meetings Act, Chapter 231,  
P.L. 1975, adequate notice as defined in section 3D of Chapter 21 P.L. 1975, has been made to the New 
Jersey Herald and is also posted on the bulletin board at the Hardyston Township Municipal Building. 
 
 
ROLL CALL: 
 
Leslie Hamilton – Present  
Ken Kievit – Present  
Robert Neubig – Present  
William Hickerson – Excused   
Robert F. Schultz – Present  
John Monell – Present  
James Homa – Present  
Brian Kaminski – Present  
Randy Roof (Alternate No. 1) – Present  
Stanley Kula (Alternate No. 2) – Present  
Carl Miller – Present  
 
OTHERS PRESENT:  Robert P. Guerin, P.E., P.P., Thomas J. Molica, Esq., and Anne-Marie Wilhelm, 
Land Use Administrator  
 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
 
A motion to approve the Minutes of the Hardyston Township Planning Board Meeting Held  
May 22, 2008 was made by Ken Kievit and seconded by James Homa.  Roll Call: Leslie Hamilton – yes, 
Ken Kievit – yes, Robert Schultz – yes, John Monell – yes, James Homa – yes, Brian Kaminski – yes, 
Carl Miller – yes.  The motion carried.  
 
 
RESOLUTIONS:   
 
PB-8-06-1a, Mogavero, Gerard; Florence Mogavero; and Frank Mogavero, Minor Subdivision,  
C Variances, Block 67 Lot 25.01:  A motion to adopt the resolution dismissing the matter without 
prejudice was made by Ken Kievit and seconded by James Homa.  Roll Call: Ken Kievit – yes, Robert 
Schultz – yes, Robert Neubig – yes, John Monell – yes, Randy Roof – yes, Carl Miller – yes.  The motion 
carried.  
 
PB-2-08-1, St. Jude the Apostle Parish, Preliminary/Final Site Plan, C Variance, Block 68 Lot 14:  
A motion to adopt the resolution granting an approval was made by Ken Kievit and seconded by Robert 
Neubig.  Roll Call: Ken Kievit – yes, Robert Schultz – yes, Robert Neubig – yes, John Monell – yes, 
James Homa – yes, Randy Roof – yes, Carl Miller – yes.  The motion carried.  
 
PB-5-08-2, Sussex National Development Corporation, Amended Preliminary and Final Site Plan, 
Farmer’s Market, Block 16 Lot 8.03:  A motion to adopt the resolution granting an approval was made 
by Leslie Hamilton and seconded by Ken Kievit.  Roll Call: Leslie Hamilton – yes, Ken Kievit – yes, 
Robert Schultz – yes, John Monell – yes, James Homa – yes, Brian Kaminski – yes, Randy Roof – yes, 
Carl Miller – yes.  The motion carried.  
 
 
APPLICATIONS :   
 
PB-4-08-1, Richter, Tillman A. Amended Minor Subdivision, [Amends:  PB-10-05-1,] Block 67 
Lot 25.02: Francis J. McGovern, Esq., appeared on behalf of the Applicant.  Anthony Ceglia, Assistant 
Chief of the Hardyston Township Fire Department, was sworn.  He filed a report with the Board, marked  



Minutes of the Hardyston Township Planning Board Meeting Held June 26, 2008 
Page 2 of 10 

Exhibit B-1, in the matter of the driveway access.  He testified that he visited the driveway on two 
occasions.  He stated there is no problem with the truck fitting on the driveway.  He submitted 
photographs, marked Exhibit B-2, which he stated demonstrate that the larger fire truck can make it up the 
driveway and turn around at the top of the driveway.  Mr. Ceglia confirmed that the truck was full with 
3600 gallons of water at the time of the test runs.  He stated there was no cracking on the driveway 
subsequent to the truck riding on it.  He stated the driveway is sufficient.  He stated there are two points 
on the driveway for pull-off or turn around.  The Applicant confirmed that they would add gravel to the 
curtain in the driveway area.  Mr. Ceglia stated the Fire Department would probably draft from the ponds 
in the area in the event of a fire. 
 
Carl Miller opened the meeting to the public.  No members of the public addressed the Board.  The 
meeting was closed to the public. 
 
A motion to grant an approval of the amended minor subdivision and design waiver, granting relief from 
the requirement to widen the driveway, and subject to the conditions noted below was made by Ken 
Kievit and seconded by James Homa.  Roll Call: Leslie Hamilton – yes, Ken Kievit – yes, Robert Schultz 
– yes, John Monell – yes, James Homa – yes, Brian Kaminski – yes, Stanley Kula – yes, Carl Miller – 
yes.  The motion carried. Mr. Molica noted the following conditions of approval: the Applicant shall 
maintain the vegetation along side the roadway; add gravel where noted by the Fire Department and in 
accordance with the recommendations of Mr. Guerin; the Applicant shall abide by all conditions set forth 
in Mr. Guerin’s report; the Applicant shall abide by the standard conditions of approval; and the 
Applicant shall maintain the access way. 
 
 
PB-5-08-1, Beaver Run Shopping Center, L.L.C., Preliminary Site Plan, Block 63 Lot 1.01:   
Board members reviewed a request to carry the matter to July 24, 2008 forwarded by the Applicant’s 
attorney.  A motion to carry the matter with notice required was made by Ken Kievit and seconded by 
Leslie Hamilton.  Roll Call:  Leslie Hamilton – yes, Ken Kievit – yes, Robert Schultz – yes, John Monell 
– yes, James Homa – yes, Brian Kaminski – yes, Randy Roof – yes, Carl Miller – yes.  The motion 
carried.  
 
PB-8-06-2a, Mogavero, Frank.  Minor Subdivision Extension, C Variances, Block 71, Lot 7.01: 
William T. Haggerty, Esq., appeared on behalf of the Applicant.  Following discussion, he confirmed that 
the Applicant would proceed with the original plan and not include the lot line adjustment for Lot 9.11 
shown on the revised plans. 
 
Chairman Miller opened the meeting to the public.  There were no participants.  The meeting was closed 
to the public.   
 
A motion to extend the prior approval of the Minor Subdivision for one year to June 28, 2009, was made 
by Robert Neubig and seconded by Ken Kievit.  Roll Call: Leslie Hamilton – yes, Ken Kievit – yes, 
Robert Neubig – yes, Robert Schultz – yes, John Monell – yes, James Homa – yes, Brian Kaminski – yes, 
Randy Roof – yes, Carl Miller – yes.  The motion carried.  
 
PB-6-08-1, Geis Construction South, LLC, Amended Preliminary and Final Site Plan, Block 62,  
Lot 22.01:  Mr. Guerin confirmed there were no completeness issues.  M. Richard Valenti, Esq., 
appeared on behalf of the Applicant.  He stated the Applicant needs outdoor storage at the facility and 
that the Applicant was directed to return to the Board to amend the preliminary and final site plan 
approval to include outdoor storage.  
 
Mark Leszynski of Geis Construction and Kenneth Dykstra, P.E., L.S., were sworn.  Mr. Dykstra was 
accepted by the Board as an expert witness.  Mr. Dykstra submitted Exhibit A-1, a colored rendering of 
the outdoor storage plan.  He stated the subject property contains just over 9 acres of land with a  
57,840 s.f. facility, a stormwater detention basin, an access drive, a loading area at the rear of the 
building, seven parking spaces, and 68 reserved parking spaces.  He confirmed that a POD container is  
8' x 8' x 15' and also comes in a 12' length as well.  He explained that the empty POD unit is assembled 
and stored outside.  He stated the full units are stored inside the climate-controlled building.  He stated 
there are currently 40 units stored.  He stated they are stored in stacks of two or on one level.  He stated 
the average amount of units stored outside equals 150 – 200 units with a maximum of 300 units on ¾ of 
an acre.  He identified the areas where storage is needed as the gravel area, which is currently about  
14,000 s.f., and the paved area, which is approximately 12,000 s.f.  He stated there is also space to store 
the POD units directly behind the building.   



Minutes of the Hardyston Township Planning Board Meeting Held June 26, 2008 
Page 3 of 10 

Mr. Dykstra stated the proposal is to install an 8' high white solid vinyl fence on top of the existing slope.  
He stated that in the location where the site goes from a cut into a fill, a berm has been constructed about 
4' above the gravel storage area.  He confirmed that on top of the 4' berm would be an 8' fence, which is 
about 12' above grade.  He stated the owner would need the ability to stack some of the units, which are 
white.  He stated the fence would match the POD unit.  He stated the fence would run along the paved 
area and storage area so that the storage area would be fully enclosed except for the driveway portion.   
 
Chairman Miller stated that when the application came before the Board, testimony was given that there 
would be no outside storage and everything would be stored inside the building.  He asked why foliage 
was cut down behind the building.  Mr. Dykstra stated the subject property contains about 50' of woods to 
a minimum of 30'.  He stated it is very dense.  Mr. Dykstra stated the trucks are loaded the previous day 
and the trucks leave in the morning at 7:00 a.m.  Mr. Leszynski stated three or four trucks are used at the 
facility.  Mr. Valenti noted it is an industrial zone that permits outdoor storage.  Mr. Miller clarified that it 
permits fenced-in outdoor storage.  Mr. Dykstra testified that there is outdoor storage on other sites where 
outdoor storage exceeds the height of the fence and that there is outdoor storage inside the park.   
Mr. Guerin noted that when the application was heard, the area at the end of the parking lot was made 
wider so a truck could maneuver around it.  He stated that if POD containers were stored there, the 
maneuverability would be affected.  He asked how this would be addressed.  Mr. Dykstra stated the POD 
trucks would have no problem but a tractor-trailer would present a different situation.  Mr. Schultz asked 
why there is a need for outdoor storage.  Mr. Leszynski stated the inside storage capacity is about 600 –
800 units and keeping the “emptys” outside is easier for the operation.    
 
With reference to storing containers three-high, Mr. Leszynski stated there was pavement failure that 
handicapped operations throughout the winter months.  Mr. Leszynski confirmed that the person running 
the operation was told there was supposed to be no outdoor storage.  Mr. Guerin stated that if the 
Applicant were proposing what they are proposing post construction, he would be looking for changes to 
the circulation element of the site plan. 
 
Chairman Miller opened the meeting to the public.  Mr. Eric Miller was sworn.    He provided an 
overview of his engineering experience and stated he researched his property before he bought it.  It was 
confirmed that Mr. Miller was testifying as a neighbor and not an expert.  He stated he got an invitation to 
this meeting and stated he believes everything can be worked out.  He stated the workers come in before 
6:00 a.m.  He stated he called the police for six months to complain about the overnight parking of trucks.  
He stated he could hear the diesel trucks overnight.  He stated he forwarded a letter to Marianne Smith, 
Township Manager, in November and the truck stop issue was addressed. He stated that a month ago, a 
trucker was sleeping overnight at the property.  He stated that when the leaves are off the trees, he can see 
the building’s office computer screen.  He stated he can do shadow puppets with the lights going through 
his window at 5:45 a.m.  He stated he would like to see a rock or interlocking block retaining wall and 
some trees.  He stated he wanted PODS to be successful.  He suggested a fence color that blends in.  He 
stated he has chased kids out of the area and it is an attractive nuisance.  Mr. Valenti noted the Applicant 
moved the building and that notice was sent to Mr. Miller.  Mr. Molica stated that notice is not an issue. 
 
Mr. Daniel Sienkiewicz was sworn.  He asked the Board to concur with Mr. Guerin’s report and follow 
points one through eight.  He expressed his concern with safety and stated that the fence will serve a 
security purpose.  He stated that at two PODS high, the PODS would be seen.  He asked where the 
overnight truckers relieve themselves.   
 
Mr. Harry Romaine was sworn.  He suggested the placement of evergreens on top of the berm and that 
the fence should not be white.  He stated he did not want to see PODS stored outside and asked if POD 
units were to be stored outside, they be limited to one high.  He stated the Applicant ignored everything 
that he understood to be in the original agreement.  He stated a gate was needed to keep the truckers out.  
He stated it is an eyesore and something needs to be done. 
 
Having no other public participants, Chairman Miller closed the meeting to the public. 
 
The Board recessed at 8:50 p.m. Chairman Miller called the meeting to order at 9:00 p.m. 
 
Board members and the Applicant reviewed the following report submitted by  
Robert P. Guerin, P.E., P.P.  Comments are inserted below. 
 
 
 



Minutes of the Hardyston Township Planning Board Meeting Held June 26, 2008 
Page 4 of 10 

 

 

 



Minutes of the Hardyston Township Planning Board Meeting Held June 26, 2008 
Page 5 of 10 

 

 
· Item #2:  Mr. Leszynski confirmed that the PODS doors cannot be locked from the inside.  Mr. 

Board members discussed safety issues. Neubig suggested that outdoor PODS be locked.  Ms. 
Hamilton stated the entire area should be fenced. Mr. Neubig stated he would like to see a gate.  
Chairman Miller requested a fence that would blend in with nature.  The Board agreed that the 
fence should be green. 

 

 
· Item #3:  Mr. Dykstra agreed to define the area on the revised plan.   

 

 
 

· Item #4:  Mr. Dykstra stated part of the area will be gravel and part will be paved. 
 
 

 



Minutes of the Hardyston Township Planning Board Meeting Held June 26, 2008 
Page 6 of 10 

 
· Item #5:  Mr. Dykstra stated the reserved spaces will be relocated on the site.  It was noted that the 

For Rent sign would need to be discussed at the next meeting.  Mr. Leszynski stated the Applicant 
was not attempting to get another tenant in there.  He stated he did not know if the owner was 
selling the facility.  Chairman Miller asked Mr. Dykstra to define the storage area on the revision. 

 
 

 
 

· Item #6: Mr. Dyskstra stated the item was discussed.   
 
 

 
 

· Item #7:  Mr. Dykstra requested that the Applicant have the ability to stack the containers two 
high.  Chairman Miller stated he would like to see it work with a one-high storage area.  Mr. 
Dykstra stated it is a question of more land disturbance or extra height.  Mr. Guerin noted that 
there is always the opportunity to put fewer outside. 

 

 

 
Chairman Miller asked the Applicant to clearly define the hours of operation and operate in a neighbor- 
friendly way.  Mr. Kievitt stated that operating before 7:00 a.m. is unreasonable.  Mr. Neubig stated he 
would like the manager to testify.  Mr. Valenti stated the manager would come to the next meeting. 
 
Chairman Miller asked for a review of the lighting so that it does not project into neighbors’ homes.  He 
also asked for additional landscaping to mitigate the situation.  He suggested evergreens stating they 
would remain green in the winter.  Chairman Miller asked Mr. Dykstra to show the options.  Mr. Miller 
stated if the PODS are limited to one in height and there is an 8' green fence, extensive landscaping may 
not be needed.  Mr. Valenti asked what the priority is.  Mr. Miller stated it would be a one-stack height 
and a fence.   



Minutes of the Hardyston Township Planning Board Meeting Held June 26, 2008 
Page 7 of 10 

 
Mr. Kaminski requested a cross section to review the sight lines.  Mr. Dykstra agreed to provide same.  
Mr. Guerin stated he visited the site at night and did not see a problem with the lighting in the parking lot 
area.  Mr. Dykstra agreed to look at the lighting installed on the building.  Mr. Dykstra also agreed to 
review the placement of an asphalt sidewalk next to the building. 
 
Mr. Roof inquired about the feasibility of assembling the PODS on site.  Mr. Miller stated it would be a 
lot of work to take them apart once assembled.  It was noted that the site manager would be available at 
the next hearing for future discussion. 
 
Chairman Miller opened the meeting to the public.  Mr. Eric Miller stated he would like the PODS 
stacked two high to provide a noise barrier from the HVAC cabinets located on the side of the building.  
He stated the lighting that shoots out is the office lights, not the security lights. 

 
Mr. Harry Romaine thanked the Board for considering stacking the PODS one high.  He stated he would 
like to see evergreen trees along the fence. 
 
Mr. Daniel Sienkiewicz stated he was a one-high advocate and stated he appreciated safety measures. 
 
Mr. Valenti requested a straw vote in the matter of allowable POD stacking heights.  Board members 
Neubig and Schultz stated they needed more information.  Board members Kaminski, Monell, and Roof 
stated two high would be fine if screening were improved.  Board members Miller and Hamilton stated 
they would like one high.   
 
The matter was carried to the July 24, 2008, meeting without further notice and with the Applicant’s 
consent to the continuance. 
 

 Mr. Eric Miller offered photographs to the Board.  He stated he would provide photographs tomorrow. 
 

 
BILLS:  A motion to recommend payment of the bills cited below to the Township Council was made by  
James Homa and seconded by Ken Kievit.  All were in favor. The motion carried.  

 
HARDYSTON TOWNSHIP PLANNING BOARD 

ESCROW REPORT 
JUNE 26, 2008 

 

Vogel, Chait, Collins AND Schneider  

Invoice 48207 PB-5-08-2, Sussex National Development Corp.,            $ 195.00 

 [Farmers’ Market] 

Invoice 48206 PB-5-08-1, Beaver Run Shopping Center, L.L.C., 510.00 

Invoice 48205 PB-4-08-1, Richter, Tillman 45.00 

Invoice 48204 PB-2-08-1, St. Jude the Apostle 225.00 

Invoice 48203 SND-01- Sussex National Development: Gen. Escrow 60.00 

Invoice 48202 PB-8-07-3, West Essex Management 1290.00 

Invoice 48201 PB-4-07-2, Crystal Springs Builders, L.L.C.,  150.00 

 [Crystal Springs North] 

Invoice 48200 PB-3-05-1C, CJS Investments, Inc., 1410.00 

 [Emerald Estates] 

Invoice 48199 PB-12-06-4, Leidenfrost, R. 75.00 

Invoice 48197 PB-8-06-1, Mogavero, G. 150.00 

Invoice 48196 PB-10-6-4, Crystal Springs Builders, L.L.C.,  225.00 

 [Crystal Springs North] 



Minutes of the Hardyston Township Planning Board Meeting Held June 26, 2008 
Page 8 of 10 

Invoice 48195 HFHJL-01, Indian Fields General Escrow 90.00 

Invoice 48194 Planning OE  1020.00 

 

Guerin & Vreeland Engineering, Inc.  

Invoice WO697B PB-3-06-1, A&N Carr Associates 105.00 

Invoice WO664F MCS-01, Crystal Springs Builders, L.L.C., 3587.50 

Invoice WO626L PBC-6-03-1, Hook, D. and Senyszyn 430.00 

Invoice WO493M PB-5-08-1, Beaver Run Shopping Center, L.L.C., 3150.00 

Invoice WO745D PB-8-07-1, CAVA Winery and Vineyard, Inc. 105.00 

Invoice WO600R PB-3-05-1C, CJS Investments, Inc. 630.00 

Invoice WO769B PB-5-08-2, Sussex National Development Corp.,            420.00 

 [Farmers Market] 

Invoice WO748E MCS-01, Crystal Springs Builders, L.L.C.,                     630.00 

 [Office Building] 

Invoice WO604BB PB-4-05-3, Crystal Springs Development, L.L.C., 492.50 

 [Grand Cascades] 

Invoice  WO753E Planning OE  1207.50 

Invoice WO719D PB-12-06-4, Leidenfrost, R. 577.50 

Invoice 703J PB-7-06-1, Geis Construction South, L.L.C., 585.00 

Invoice WO663H PB-12-06-3, AMARC Realty, L.L.C., 367.50 

Invoice WO401VV SND-01- Sussex National Development: Gen. Escrow 472.50 

 
 

HARDYSTON TOWNSHIP PLANNING BOARD 
ESCROW REPORT 

JUNE 26, 2008 

ADDENDUM 

Heyer, Gruel & Associates  

 

Invoice 28127 PB-5-08-1, Beaver Run Shopping Center, L.L.C.,          $1987.50 

 

DISCUSSION:   COAH – Mr. Molica stated that new legislation would prohibit RCA Agreements.  The 
discussion was carried to the next meeting.  Mr. Schultz inquired about Board jurisdiction.  Mr. Molica 
discussed case law and Board jurisdiction. Board members discussed fire safety concerns, compliance 
expenses, and approvals. 
 
 
CORRESPONDENCE:  Board members received the following correspondence.  There were no 
comments. 

 
Hardyston Township Planning Board 
Correspondence List – June 26, 2008 

 
1. Alice Brees, P.P., Principal Planner, SC Dept. of Engineering & Planning 

Re: Combined Subdivision Site Plan, SCPB# 78(CSS)07 -  Applicant:                           
Crystal Springs Builders, Block 14, Lots 24.01 & 24.02 (May 6, 2008) 
 

2. William G. Dressel, Jr., Executive Director, NJ League of Municipalities 
Re: COAH Regulations, Affordable Housing; Third Round Regulations      



Minutes of the Hardyston Township Planning Board Meeting Held June 26, 2008 
Page 9 of 10 

(May 7, 2008) 
 

3. Antoinette Wasiewicz, Senior Planning Aide, SC Dept. of Engineering & Planning 
Re: Preliminary Site Plan,  SCPB#: 19(PSP)08,  Applicant:  SJZ, LLC             
 Block 36, Lot 2 (Hamburg) Block 14 Lot 21.02 (Hardyston), Route 23 North, Hamburg Borough     
 (May 9, 2008) 
 

4. Robert P. Guerin, P.E., P.P., Guerin & Vreeland Engineering Inc. 
Re: Indian Field, Phase III;   Engineering Approval to Modify Location of One Parking Space, 
and Cost Responsibility for Additional Street Light  (May 9, 2008) 
 

5. Antoinette Wasiewicz, Senior Planning Aide, SC Dept. of Engineering & Planning 
Re: Preliminary Site Plan, SCPB#: 12(PSP)08, Applicant:  Group 5 Development, LLC,   
Block 70 Lot 7.05, Route 23,  Franklin Borough   (May 21, 2008) 
 

6. Antoinette Wasiewicz, Senior Planning Aide, SC Dept. of Engineering & Planning 
Re: Preliminary Site Plan, SCPB#: 19(PSP)08,  Applicant:  SJZ, LLC                
Block 36, Lot 2 (Hamburg)  Block 14 Lot 21.02 (Hardyston), Route 23 North, Hamburg Borough   
(May 22, 2008) 
 

7. Emily J. Weiner for Firm of Weiner Lesniak, LLP 
Re: Department of Environmental Protection Surface Water Quality Standards and 
Amendments;  File No. HAR-100   (May 22, 2008) 
 

8. Carrine Piccolo Memo 
Re: Highland Council Initial Assessment Grant Program   
Requirements for Basic Plan Conformance    (May 27, 2008) 
 

9. Lucy Voorhoeve, Executive Director, NJ State Council on Affordable Housing 
Re: COAH’s Revised Third Round Rules    (May 28, 2008) 
 

10. Marianne Smith Letter To Honorable Nellie Pou, Chairwoman, Assembly Appropriations 
Committee 
Re: Opposition to Affordable Housing Assembly Bill A-500   (May 29, 2008) 
 
 

11. Antoinette Wasiewicz, Senior Planning Aide, SC Dept. of Engineering & Planning 
Re: Preliminary Site Plan, SCPB#: 12(PSP)08,  Applicant:  Group 5 Development LLC,   
Block 70, Lot 7.05, Route 23, Franklin Borough   (May 29 2008) 
 

12. Benjamin L. Spinelli, Executive Director & Secretary, New Jersey Dept. of  Community Affairs 
Re: Readoption of State Planning Rules Without Amendment – Statement of Substance    (June 
3, 3008) 
 

13. Jeffrey Olawski, State of NJ Dept. of Environmental Protection, Bureau of Watershed Regulations 
Re: Highlands Applicability & Water Quality Management Determination Application, 
Applicant:  Township Storage Facility, Block 41 Lot 11,  29 Stockholm-Vernon Road            (June 
5, 2008) 
 

14. Robert P. Guerin, P.E., Guerin & Vreeland Engineering 
Re: Letter to Jeffrey Olawski, NJ DEP, Responding to Aforementioned Correspondence 
Concerning Hardyston Township Storage Facility  (June 11, 2008) 
 

15. Hardyston Township Ordinance #2008-05 
Re: Amend the Existing Growth Share Ordinance to Update it in Accordance with Mount 
Laurel II  and COAH’s proposed Round 3 Affordable Housing Regulations. 
 

16. Minutes:  Hardyston Township Municipal Utilities Authority – May 5, 2008 
 

 
PUBLIC PARTICIPATION:  No members of the public addressed the Board. 
 



Minutes of the Hardyston Township Planning Board Meeting Held June 26, 2008 
Page 10 of 10 

ADJOURNMENT:  Having no further business, a motion to adjourn was made by Ken Kievit and 
seconded by Leslie Hamilton.  The meeting was adjourned at 10:00 p.m. 

 
Minutes respectfully submitted by: 
 
 
Anne-Marie Wilhelm  
Land Use Administrator  


